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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Digital Turbine, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except par value and share amounts)

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023
(Unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 58,138 $ 75,058 
Restricted cash 511 500 
Accounts receivable, net 195,531 178,189 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 15,644 12,319 

Total current assets 269,824 266,066 
Property and equipment, net 44,931 39,327 
Right-of-use assets 8,376 10,073 
Intangible assets, net 345,392 379,632 
Goodwill 408,976 561,576 
Other non-current assets 13,689 9,882 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,091,188 $ 1,266,556 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY   
Current liabilities  

Accounts payable $ 139,852 $ 119,338 
Accrued revenue share 55,149 69,221 
Accrued compensation 8,627 10,984 
Other current liabilities 41,219 21,377 

Total current liabilities 244,847 220,920 
Long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs 383,810 410,522 
Deferred tax liabilities, net 2,816 13,940 
Other non-current liabilities 11,853 13,919 

Total liabilities 643,326 659,301 
Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity   
Preferred stock

Series A convertible preferred stock at $ 0.0001 par value; 2,000,000 shares authorized, 100,000 issued and
outstanding (liquidation preference of $1) 100 100 

Common stock
$0.0001 par value: 200,000,000 shares authorized; 101,847,271 issued and 101,089,146 outstanding at
September 30, 2023; 100,216,494 issued and 99,458,369 outstanding at March 31, 2023 10 10 

Additional paid-in capital 842,677 822,217 
Treasury stock (758,125 shares at September 30, 2023, and March 31, 2023) (71) (71)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (50,078) (41,945)
Accumulated deficit (344,776) (175,115)

Total stockholders’ equity 447,862 605,196 
Non-controlling interest — 2,059 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 1,091,188 $ 1,266,556 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Digital Turbine, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Three months ended September 30, Six months ended September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Net revenue $ 143,259 $ 174,859 $ 289,625 $ 363,492 
Costs of revenue and operating expenses

Revenue share 68,719 76,881 138,311 164,248 
Other direct costs of revenue 9,017 9,199 18,630 18,114 
Product development 14,037 14,736 29,837 28,869 
Sales and marketing 15,537 15,490 31,114 31,548 
General and administrative 41,385 37,471 81,884 75,196 
Impairment of goodwill 147,181 — 147,181 — 

Total costs of revenue and operating expenses 295,876 153,777 446,957 317,975 
(Loss) income from operations (152,617) 21,082 (157,332) 45,517 
Interest and other income (expense), net

Change in fair value of contingent consideration 372 — 372 — 
Interest expense, net (7,844) (5,229) (15,234) (9,311)
Foreign exchange transaction loss (2,106) (281) (183) (612)
Other income, net — 312 244 384 

Total interest and other expense, net (9,578) (5,198) (14,801) (9,539)
(Loss) income before income taxes (162,195) 15,884 (172,133) 35,978 
Income tax (benefit) provision (713) 4,181 (2,252) 9,317 
Net (loss) income (161,482) 11,703 (169,881) 26,661 

Less: net (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interest — 39 (220) 75 
Net (loss) income attributable to Digital Turbine, Inc. (161,482) 11,664 (169,661) 26,586 
Other comprehensive loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,287) (9,246) (7,394) (14,788)
Comprehensive (loss) income (162,769) 2,457 (177,275) 11,873 

Less: comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest — 32 519 275 
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to Digital Turbine, Inc. $ (162,769) $ 2,425 $ (177,794) $ 11,598 
Net (loss) income per common share

Basic $ (1.61) $ 0.12 $ (1.69) $ 0.27 

Diluted $ (1.61) $ 0.11 $ (1.69) $ 0.26 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 100,604 98,887 100,272 98,324 

Diluted 100,604 102,898 100,272 102,777 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Digital Turbine, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

Six months ended September 30,
2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities   
Net (loss) income $ (169,881) $ 26,661 

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 41,926 40,010 
Non-cash interest expense 424 408 
Allowance for credit losses 1,227 2,249 
Stock-based compensation expense 19,033 12,023 
Foreign exchange transaction (gain) loss 183 612 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (372) — 
Right-of-use asset 1,817 5,079 
Deferred income taxes (10,732) (2,228)
Impairment of goodwill 147,181 — 
(Increase) decrease in assets:

Accounts receivable, gross (16,637) 9,916 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (3,135) (4,608)
Other non-current assets (3,799) 160 

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 20,283 2,371 
Accrued revenue share (14,373) (16,866)
Accrued compensation (2,698) (15,109)
Other current liabilities 19,751 9,406 
Other non-current liabilities (1,426) (5,775)

Net cash provided by operating activities 28,772 64,309 
Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures (14,277) (12,930)
Net cash used in investing activities (14,277) (12,930)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 17,000 — 
Repayment of debt obligations (44,136) (86,500)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries (3,751) — 
Payment of withholding taxes for net share settlement of equity awards (1,037) (5,929)
Options exercised 2,729 939 

Net cash used in financing activities (29,195) (91,490)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (2,209) (3,838)
Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (16,909) (43,949)
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period 75,558 127,162 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period $ 58,649 $ 83,213 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Interest paid $ 15,582 $ 7,410 
Income taxes paid $ 444 $ 1,076 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities
Common stock issued for the acquisition of Fyber $ — $ 50,000 
Fair value of unpaid contingent consideration in connection with business acquisitions $ 2,366 $ 2,578 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Digital Turbine, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share counts)

Common
Stock

Shares Amount

Preferred
Stock

Shares Amount

Treasury
Stock

Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Non-
Controlling

Interest Total
Balance at March 31, 2023 99,458,369 $ 10 100,000 $ 100 758,125 $ (71) $ 822,217 $ (41,945) $ (175,115) $ 2,059 $ 607,255 

Net loss — — — — — — — — (8,179) (220) (8,399)
Foreign currency translation — — — — — — — (6,846) — 739 (6,107)
Stock-based compensation
expense — — — — — — 10,017 — — — 10,017 
Shares issued:

Exercise of stock
options 378,507 — — — — — 731 — — — 731 
Issuance of restricted
shares and vesting of
restricted units 449,781 — — — — — — — — — — 

Acquisition of non-
controlling interests in
Fyber — — — — — — (1,173) — — (2,578) (3,751)
Payment of withholding
taxes related to the net
share settlement of equity
awards — — — — — — (931) — — — (931)

Balance at June 30, 2023 100,286,657 $ 10 100,000 $ 100 758,125 $ (71) $ 830,861 $ (48,791) $ (183,294) $ — $ 598,815 

Net loss — — — — — — — — (161,482) — (161,482)
Foreign currency translation — — — — — — — (1,287) — — (1,287)
Stock-based compensation
expense — — — — — — 9,924 — — — 9,924 
Shares issued:

Exercise of stock
options 575,599 — — — — — 1,998 — — — 1,998 
Issuance of restricted
shares and vesting of
restricted units 226,890 — — — — — — — — — — 

Payment of withholding
taxes related to the net
share settlement of equity
awards — — — — — — (106) — — — (106)

Balance at September 30,
2023 101,089,146 $ 10 100,000 $ 100 758,125 $ (71) $ 842,677 $ (50,078) $ (344,776) $ — $ 447,862 
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Digital Turbine, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except share counts)

Common
Stock

Shares Amount

Preferred
Stock

Shares Amount

Treasury
Stock

Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Non-
Controlling

Interest Total
Balance at March 31, 2022 97,163,701 $ 10 100,000 $ 100 758,125 $ (71) $ 745,661 $ (39,341) $ (191,788) $ 1,644 $ 516,215 

Net income — — — — — — — — 14,922 36 14,958 
Foreign currency translation — — — — — — — (5,749) — 207 (5,542)
Stock-based compensation
expense — — — — — — 6,463 — — — 6,463 
Shares issued:

Exercise of stock options 380,176 — — — — — 296 — — — 296 
Vesting of restricted and
performance stock units 7,763 — — — — — — — — — — 
Shares for acquisition of
Fyber 1,205,982 — — — — — 50,000 — — — 50,000 

Payment of withholding taxes
related to the net share
settlement of equity awards — — — — — — (4,357) — — — (4,357)

Balance at June 30, 2022 98,757,622 $ 10 100,000 $ 100 758,125 $ (71) $ 798,063 $ (45,090) $ (176,866) $ 1,887 $ 578,033 

Net income — — — — — — — — 11,664 39 11,703 
Foreign currency translation — — — — — — — (9,239) — (7) (9,246)
Stock-based compensation
expense — — — — — — 6,142 — — — 6,142 
Shares issued:

Exercise of stock options 198,778 — — — — — 643 — — — 643 
Issuance of restricted
shares and vesting of
restricted units 29,035 — — — — — — — — — — 

Payment of withholding taxes
related to the net share
settlement of equity awards — — — — — — (1,572) — — — (1,572)

Balance at September 30, 2022 98,985,435 $ 10 100,000 $ 100 758,125 $ (71) $ 803,276 $ (54,329) $ (165,202) $ 1,919 $ 585,703 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Digital Turbine, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

September 30, 2023
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Note 1—Description of Business

Digital Turbine, Inc., through its subsidiaries (collectively “Digital Turbine” or the “Company”), is a leading independent mobile growth platform that
levels up the landscape for advertisers, publishers, carriers, and device original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”). The Company offers end-to-end products
and solutions leveraging proprietary technology to all participants in the mobile application ecosystem, enabling brand discovery and advertising, user
acquisition and engagement, and operational efficiency for advertisers. In addition, the Company’s products and solutions provide monetization opportunities for
OEMs, carriers, and application (“app” or “apps”) publishers and developers.

Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”). The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company
consolidates the financial results and reports non-controlling interests representing the economic interests held by other equity holders of subsidiaries that are
not 100% owned by the Company. The calculation of non-controlling interests excludes any net income (loss) attributable directly to the Company. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company acquired the remaining minority interest shareholders’
outstanding shares in one of its subsidiaries during the three months ended June 30, 2023 for $3,751. As a result, the Company owned 100% of all its
subsidiaries as of September 30, 2023.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements and related notes included in its Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

These accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim financial reporting. In the opinion of management, these unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements reflect all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring items, considered necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial condition, results of
operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the interim periods indicated. The results of operations for the three and six months
ended September 30, 2023, are not necessarily indicative of the operating results for the full fiscal year.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of income and
expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in the financial statements include revenue recognition, including the
determination of gross versus net revenue reporting, allowance for credit losses, stock-based compensation, fair value of acquired intangible assets and
goodwill, useful lives of acquired intangible assets and property and equipment, fair value of contingent earn-out considerations, incremental borrowing rates for
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and tax valuation allowances. These estimates are based on information available as of the date of the financial
statements; therefore, actual results could differ materially from management’s estimates using different assumptions or under different conditions.

Management considered the potential impacts of ongoing macroeconomic uncertainty due to global events such as the conflict in Ukraine, the conflict in
Israel, inflation, disruptions in supply chains, recessionary concerns impacting the markets in which the Company operates, and others, on the Company’s
critical and significant
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accounting estimates. As of the date of issuance of these financial statements, the Company is not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would
require the Company to update its estimates or judgments or revise the carrying value of its assets or liabilities as a result of such factors. Management’s
estimates may change as new events occur and additional information is obtained. Actual results could differ from estimates and any such differences may be
material to the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

There have been no significant changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies in Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, of the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023.

Note 3—Acquisitions

Acquisition of In App Video Services UK LTD.

On November 1, 2022, the Company completed the acquisition of all outstanding ownership interests of In App Video Services UK LTD. (“In App”),
pursuant to a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “In App Acquisition”). Prior to the Acquisition, In App acted as a third-party representative of the Company’s App
Growth Platform (“AGP”) segment’s products and services in the United Kingdom (“UK”). The acquisition of In App is part of the Company’s strategy to make
investments that provide opportunities to grow market share and increase revenue in important markets and geographies like the UK.

The Company acquired In App for total estimated consideration in the range of $ 2,250 to $5,500, paid as follows: (1) $ 2,708 paid in cash at closing,
including a working capital adjustment of approximately $460, with $1,000 of that amount held in escrow for one-year and (2) potential annual earn-out
payments based on meeting annual revenue targets for the calendar years ended December 31, 2022, 2023, 2024, and 2025. The annual earn-out payments
are up to $250 for the year ended December 31, 2022, and $ 1,000 for each of the calendar years ended December 31, 2023, 2024, and 2025. Also, an
incremental earn-out payment will be made for each of the calendar years ended 2023, 2024, and 2025 in an amount equal to 25% of revenue that is more than
150% of that calendar year’s revenue target.

On the acquisition date, the Company recorded the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the In App Acquisition, which resulted in
the recognition of: (1) current assets, net of cash acquired, of $836, (2) current liabilities of $ 401, (3) acquisition purchase price liability of $ 2,738, (4) and
goodwill of $4,957.

As of September 30, 2023, the Company reassessed the fair value of the purchase price liability based on current forecasts, which resulted in a
remeasurement gain equal to the change in fair value of $372 for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023. Changes in the fair value of the earn-
out liability subsequent to the acquisition date are recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income.

Note 4—Segment Information

Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise for which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the
chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance. The Company has determined that its
Chief Executive Officer is the CODM. The Company reports its results of operations through the following two segments, each of which represents an operating
and reportable segment, as follows:

• On Device Solutions (“ODS”) -  This segment generates revenue from the delivery of mobile application media or content to end users with solutions for
all participants in the mobile application ecosystem that want to connect with end users and consumers who hold the device. This includes mobile carriers
and device OEMs that participate in the app economy, app publishers and developers, and brands and advertising agencies. This segment's product
offerings are enabled through relationships with mobile device carriers and OEMs.
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• App Growth Platform (“AGP”) -  AGP customers are primarily advertisers and publishers, and the segment provides platforms that allow mobile app
publishers and developers to monetize their monthly active users via display, native, and video advertising. The AGP platforms allow demand side
platforms, advertisers, agencies, and publishers to buy and sell digital ad impressions, primarily through programmatic, real-time bidding auctions and, in
some cases, through direct-bought/sold advertiser budgets. The segment also provides brand and performance advertising products to advertisers and
agencies.

The Company’s CODM evaluates segment performance and makes resource allocation decisions primarily based on segment net revenue and
segment profit, as shown in the segment information summary table below. The Company’s CODM does not allocate other direct costs of revenue, operating
expenses, interest and other income (expense), net, or provision for income taxes to these segments for the purpose of evaluating segment performance.
Additionally, the Company does not allocate assets to segments for internal reporting purposes as the CODM does not manage the Company’s segments by
such metrics.

A summary of segment information follows:

Three months ended September 30, 2023
ODS AGP Eliminations Consolidated

Net revenue $ 99,060 $ 46,183 $ (1,984) $ 143,259 
Revenue share 60,980 9,723 (1,984) 68,719 

Segment profit $ 38,080 $ 36,460 $ — $ 74,540 

 Three months ended September 30, 2022
ODS AGP Eliminations Consolidated

Net revenue $ 108,466 $ 68,256 $ (1,863) $ 174,859 
Revenue share 59,786 18,958 (1,863) 76,881 

Segment profit $ 48,680 $ 49,298 $ — $ 97,978 

Six months ended September 30, 2023
ODS AGP Eliminations Consolidated

Net revenue $ 197,310 $ 95,142 $ (2,827) $ 289,625 
Revenue share 119,278 21,860 (2,827) 138,311 

Segment profit $ 78,032 $ 73,282 $ — $ 151,314 

 Six months ended September 30, 2022
ODS AGP Eliminations Consolidated

Net revenue $ 227,103 $ 140,622 $ (4,233) $ 363,492 
Revenue share 128,236 40,245 (4,233) 164,248 

Segment profit $ 98,867 $ 100,377 $ — $ 199,244 

Geographic Area Information

Long-lived assets, excluding deferred tax assets, by region follow:

 September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023
United States and Canada $ 30,030 $ 25,903 
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 14,827 13,395 
Asia Pacific and China 74 29 

Consolidated property and equipment, net $ 44,931 $ 39,327 
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 September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023
United States and Canada $ 145,795 $ 122,377 
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 195,192 252,524 
Asia Pacific and China 4,405 4,731 

Consolidated intangible assets, net $ 345,392 $ 379,632 

Net revenue by geography is based on the billing addresses of the Company’s customers and a reconciliation of disaggregated revenue by segment
follows:

 Three months ended September 30, 2023
ODS AGP Total

United States and Canada $ 40,176 $ 32,256 $ 72,432 
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 48,348 8,966 57,314 
Asia Pacific and China 10,114 4,940 15,054 
Mexico, Central America, and South America 422 21 443 
Elimination — — (1,984)

Consolidated net revenue $ 99,060 $ 46,183 $ 143,259 

 Three months ended September 30, 2022
ODS AGP Total

United States and Canada $ 50,978 $ 39,808 $ 90,786 
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 42,598 22,254 64,852 
Asia Pacific and China 13,140 6,149 19,289 
Mexico, Central America, and South America 1,750 45 1,795 
Elimination — — (1,863)

Consolidated net revenue $ 108,466 $ 68,256 $ 174,859 

 Six months ended September 30, 2023
ODS AGP Total

United States and Canada $ 79,117 $ 63,173 $ 142,290 
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 94,370 22,518 116,888 
Asia Pacific and China 22,657 9,387 32,044 
Mexico, Central America, and South America 1,166 64 1,230 
Elimination — — (2,827)

Consolidated net revenue $ 197,310 $ 95,142 $ 289,625 

 Six months ended September 30, 2022
ODS AGP Total

United States and Canada $ 113,941 $ 86,046 $ 199,987 
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 83,142 41,669 124,811 
Asia Pacific and China 27,014 12,273 39,287 
Mexico, Central America, and South America 3,006 634 3,640 
Elimination — — (4,233)

Consolidated net revenue $ 227,103 $ 140,622 $ 363,492 
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Note 5—Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment follows:

ODS AGP Total
Goodwill as of March 31, 2023 $ 80,176 $ 481,400 $ 561,576 
Foreign currency translation — (5,419) (5,419)
Impairment of goodwill $ — $ (147,181) $ (147,181)

Goodwill as of September 30, 2023 $ 80,176 $ 328,800 $ 408,976 

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment at least annually or upon the occurrence of events or circumstances that indicate they would more
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. During annual testing as of March 31, 2023, the Company determined that the
fair value of both reporting units was in excess of their carrying value. As a result of this review, the Company did not record an impairment charge in fiscal year
2023.

As of September 30, 2023, the Company determined that the sustained decline in the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock during the
fiscal year (in particular, during the quarter ended September 30, 2023 and following such quarter end), the recent increase in interest rates, and the
Company’s current and recently updated forecasted operating trends represented a change in circumstances that indicated that the fair value of the Company’s
reporting units may be less than their carrying value. The Company completed an impairment assessment of its goodwill, and as a result of this review,
recorded a $147,181 non-deductible, non-cash goodwill impairment charge (or $ 1.46] per basic and diluted share) for the AGP reporting unit for the quarter
ended September 30, 2023. There was no impairment of goodwill for the ODS reporting unit.

The fair value of each reporting unit was estimated using a weighted combination of the income approach, which incorporates the use of the discounted
cash flow method, and the market approach (the “Guideline Public Company Method”). The Company’s September 30, 2023 testing reflected a 75%/25%
allocation between the income and market approaches. The Company believes the 75% weighting to the income approach is appropriate, as it directly reflects
its future growth and profitability expectations.

The discounted cash flow method requires significant assumptions and estimates, the most significant of which are projected future growth rates,
capital expenditures, tax rates, gross margins and terminal values. In addition, the Company determines its weighted average cost of capital, which is risk-
adjusted to reflect the specific risk profile of the reporting unit being tested. For the September 30, 2023 testing, as compared to the March 31, 2023 testing, the
Company reduced its estimated future cash flows used in the impairment assessment, including revenues, gross profits, and EBITDA to reflect its best
estimates at this time. The Company also updated key inputs for the discounted cash flow models, including the weighted-average cost of capital, which
increased due to higher interest rates, market volatility, and the company specific premium.

The market approach estimates the fair value of the reporting unit by applying multiples of operating performance measures to the reporting unit’s
operating performance. These multiples are derived from comparable publicly-traded companies with similar investment characteristics. For the September 30,
2023 testing, as compared to the March 31, 2023 testing, the Company reduced its revenue and EBITDA market multiples, reflecting declining valuations across
the Company’s selected peer group. These updates, along with those made to the discounted cash flow models described above, had significant impacts on the
estimated fair values of the Company’s reporting units.

As of September 30, 2023, the goodwill impairment evaluation indicated the following for the Company’s reporting units:

ODS

For the ODS reporting unit, the Company determined that the estimated fair value was in excess of its carrying value by $ 233,100. As a result, no
impairment charge was recorded.

The ODS reporting unit has remaining goodwill of $ 80,176 as of September 30, 2023. Prior to the quantitative goodwill impairment test, the Company
tested the recoverability of intangibles and other long-lived assets of the ODS reporting unit and concluded that such assets were not impaired.

AGP
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For the AGP reporting unit, the Company determined that the carrying value was in excess of its estimated fair value, resulting in an impairment charge of
$147,181.

The decline in the fair value of the AGP reporting unit below its carrying value resulted primarily from the Company’s recently reduced estimates in its
estimated future cash flows, including revenues, gross profits, and EBITDA as mentioned above. Prior to the quantitative goodwill impairment test, the Company
tested the recoverability of intangibles and other long-lived assets of the AGP reporting unit and concluded that such assets were not impaired.

Subsequent to the impairment charge discussed above, the AGP reporting unit has remaining goodwill of $ 328,800, and an excess of fair value over
carrying value of net assets of 0% as of the test date (September 30, 2023). As noted above, the fair value of the AGP reporting unit is derived from a 75%/25%
allocation between the discounted cash flows method and the market approach.

Intangible Assets

The components of intangible assets were as follows as of the periods indicated:

 As of September 30, 2023
Weighted-Average

Remaining Useful Life Cost
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Customer relationships 12.01 years $ 168,405 $ (49,400) $ 119,005 
Developed technology 4.79 years 146,337 (49,070) 97,267 
Trade names 1.83 years 69,894 (36,255) 33,639 
Publisher relationships 17.35 years 108,659 (13,178) 95,481 

Total $ 493,295 $ (147,903) $ 345,392 

 As of March 31, 2023
Weighted-Average

Remaining Useful Life Cost
Accumulated
Amortization Net

Customer relationships 12.06 years $ 170,281 $ (39,925) $ 130,356 
Developed technology 5.28 years 146,596 (38,813) 107,783 
Trade names 2.33 years 69,983 (27,115) 42,868 
Publisher relationships 17.83 years 109,028 (10,403) 98,625 

Total $ 495,888 $ (116,256) $ 379,632 

The Company recorded amortization expense of $ 16,157 and $32,346, respectively, during the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, and
$16,185 and $32,302, respectively, during the three and six months ended September 30, 2022, in general and administrative expenses on the condensed
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Estimated amortization expense in future fiscal years is expected to be:

Fiscal year 2024 $ 32,102 
Fiscal year 2025 55,591 
Fiscal year 2026 41,348 
Fiscal year 2027 35,232 
Fiscal year 2028 35,233 
Thereafter 145,886 

Total $ 345,392 
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Note 6—Accounts Receivable

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023
Billed $ 165,287 $ 136,921 
Unbilled 40,350 51,474 
Allowance for credit losses (10,106) (10,206)

Accounts receivable, net $ 195,531 $ 178,189 

Billed accounts receivable represent amounts billed to customers for which the Company has an unconditional right to consideration. Unbilled accounts
receivable represents revenue recognized but billed after period-end. All unbilled receivables as of September 30, 2023 are expected to be billed and collected
(subject to the allowance for credit losses) within twelve months.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Company maintains reserves for current expected credit losses on accounts receivable. Management reviews the composition of accounts
receivable and analyzes historical bad debts, customer concentrations, current economic trends, and changes in customer payment patterns to evaluate the
adequacy of these reserves.

The Company recorded $488 and $1,227 of credit loss expense during the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, and $ 1,363
and $2,249 of credit loss expense during the three and six months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, in general and administrative expenses on the
condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Note 7—Property and Equipment

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023
Computer-related equipment $ 3,582 $ 3,527 
Developed software 78,894 63,891 
Furniture and fixtures 2,027 2,103 
Leasehold improvements 3,641 3,647 

Property and equipment, gross 88,144 73,168 
Accumulated depreciation (43,213) (33,841)

Property and equipment, net $ 44,931 $ 39,327 

Depreciation expense was $4,529 and $9,584 for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, and $ 3,893 and $7,708 for the
three and six months ended September 30, 2022, respectively. Depreciation expense for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, includes $3,020
and $6,319, respectively, related to internal-use software included in general and administrative expense and $ 1,509 and $3,265, respectively, related to
internally-developed software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed included in other direct costs of revenue. Depreciation expense for the three and six
months ended September 30, 2022, includes $2,130 and $4,745, respectively, related to internal-use software included in general and administrative expense
and $1,763 and $2,963, respectively, related to internally-developed software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed included in other direct costs of revenue.

Note 8—Debt

The following table summarizes borrowings under the Company’s debt obligations and the associated interest rates:

September 30, 2023
Balance Interest Rate Unused Line Fee

Revolver (subject to variable interest rate) $ 386,000 7.37 % 0.30 %
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Debt obligations on the condensed consolidated balance sheets consist of the following:

September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023
Revolver $ 386,000 $ 413,134 

Less: Debt issuance costs (2,190) (2,612)
Long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs $ 383,810 $ 410,522 

Revolver

On February 3, 2021, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. (“BoA”), which provided for a
revolving line of credit (the “Revolver”) of up to $100,000 with an accordion feature enabling the Company to increase the total amount up to $ 200,000.

On April 29, 2021, the Company amended and restated the Credit Agreement (the “New Credit Agreement”) with BoA, as a lender and administrative
agent, and a syndicate of other lenders, which provided for a revolving line of credit of up to $400,000. The revolving line of credit matures on April 29, 2026,
and contains an accordion feature enabling the Company to increase the total amount of the Revolver by $75,000 plus an amount that would enable the
Company to remain in compliance with its consolidated secured net leverage ratio, on such terms as agreed to by the parties. The New Credit Agreement was
subsequently amended as follows:

• First Amendment: Increase in the Revolver to $ 525,000 while retaining the $ 75,000 accordion feature discussed above, for a total potential revolving line
of credit of $600,000 on December 29, 2021.

• Second Amendment: LIBOR was replaced with the Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”). As a result, borrowings under the New Credit
Agreement where the applicable rate was LIBOR will accrue interest at an annual rate equal to SOFR plus between 1.50% and 2.25% beginning on the
effective date of the Second Amendment, which was October 26, 2022.

The First and Second Amendments discussed above made no other changes to the terms of the New Credit Agreement, which contains customary
covenants, representations, and events of default and also requires the Company to comply with a maximum consolidated secured net leverage ratio and
minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio.

The Company incurred debt issuance costs of $4,064 for the New Credit Agreement, inclusive of costs incurred for the First and Second Amendments.
Deferred debt issuance costs are recorded as a reduction of the carrying value of the debt on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. All deferred debt
issuance costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the loan to interest expense.

As of September 30, 2023, the Company had $ 386,000 drawn against the New Credit Agreement, classified as long-term debt on the condensed
consolidated balance sheets, with remaining unamortized debt issuance costs of $2,190.

As of September 30, 2023, amounts outstanding under the New Credit Agreement accrue interest at an annual rate equal to, at the Company’s
election, (i) SOFR plus between 1.50% and 2.25%, based on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio, or (ii) a base rate based upon the highest of (a) the
federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (b) BoA’s prime rate, or (c) SOFR plus 1.00% plus between 0.50% and 1.25%, based on the Company’s consolidated leverage
ratio. Additionally, the New Credit Agreement is subject to an unused line of credit fee between 0.15% and 0.35% per annum, based on the Company’s
consolidated leverage ratio. As of September 30, 2023, the interest rate was 7.37% and the unused line of credit fee was 0.30%.

The Company’s payment and performance obligations under the New Credit Agreement and related loan documents are secured by its grant of a
security interest in substantially all of its personal property assets, whether now existing or hereafter acquired, subject to certain exclusions. If the Company
acquires any real property assets with a fair market value in excess of $5,000, it is required to grant a security interest in such real property as well. All such
security interests are required to be first priority security interests, subject to certain permitted liens.

As of September 30, 2023, the Company had $ 139,000 available to draw on the revolving line of credit
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under the New Credit Agreement, excluding the accordion feature, subject to the required covenants. As of September 30, 2023, the Company was in
compliance with all covenants. The fair value of the Company’s outstanding debt approximates its carrying value.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net, amortization of debt issuance costs, and unused line of credit fees were recorded in interest expense, net, on the condensed
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss) income, as follows:

Three months ended September 30, Six months ended September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Interest expense, net $ (7,543) $ (5,005) $ (14,657) $ (8,867)
Amortization of debt issuance costs (212) (198) (424) (408)
Unused line of credit fees and other (89) (26) (153) (36)

Total interest expense, net $ (7,844) $ (5,229) $ (15,234) $ (9,311)

Note 9—Stock-Based Compensation

2020 Equity Incentive Plan of Digital Turbine, Inc. (the “2020 Plan”)

On September 15, 2020, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2020 Plan, pursuant to which the Company may grant equity incentive awards to
directors, employees and other eligible participants. A total of 12,000,000 shares of common stock were reserved for grant under the 2020 Plan. The types of
awards that may be granted under the 2020 Plan include incentive and non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and restricted
stock units. The 2020 Plan became effective on September 15, 2020, and has a term of ten years. Stock options may be either incentive stock options, as
defined in Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), or non-qualified stock options. As of September 30, 2023, 5,673,471
shares of common stock were available for issuance as future awards under the 2020 Plan.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity:

Number of Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

(per share)

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual

Life
(in years)

Aggregate Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Options outstanding as of March 31, 2023 6,950,436 $ 12.73 6.12 $ 45,689 
Granted 550,626 13.40 
Exercised (1,123,960) 3.31 
Forfeited / Expired (148,719) 40.93 

Options outstanding as of September 30, 2023 6,228,383 $ 13.80 5.96 $ 11,195 
Exercisable as of September 30, 2023 4,783,626 $ 10.67 5.06 $ 11,195 

At September 30, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested stock options, net of estimated forfeitures, was
$19,897, with an expected remaining weighted-average recognition period of 2.02 years.

Restricted Stock

Awards of restricted stock units may be either grants of time-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”) or performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”)
that are issued at no cost to the recipient. The stock-based compensation expense for these awards is determined using the fair market value of the Company’s
common stock
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on the date of the grant. No capital transaction occurs until the units vest, at which time they are converted to restricted or unrestricted stock. Compensation
expense for RSUs with a time condition is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The Company periodically grants PSUs to
certain key employees that are subject to the achievement of specified internal performance metrics over a specified performance period. The terms and
conditions of the PSUs generally allow for vesting of the awards ranging between forfeiture and up to 200% of target. Stock-based compensation expense for
PSUs with a performance condition are recognized on a straight-line basis based on the most likely attainment scenario over the performance period. The most
likely attainment scenario is re-evaluated each period.

Restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) are awards of common stock that are legally issued and outstanding. RSAs are subject to time-based restrictions on
transfer and unvested portions are generally subject to a risk of forfeiture if the award recipient ceases providing services to the Company prior to the lapse of
the restrictions. The stock-based compensation expense for these awards is determined using the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the
date of the grant. The RSAs have time conditions and in some cases, once the stock vests, the individual is restricted from selling the shares of stock for a
certain defined period, from three months to one year, depending on the terms of the RSA.

The following table summarizes RSU, PSU, and RSA activity:

Number of Shares
Weighted-Average

Grant Date Fair Value

Unvested restricted shares outstanding as of March 31, 2023 1,670,589 $ 24.96 
Granted 2,775,331 13.39 
Vested (722,553) 18.64 
Forfeited (132,751) 19.36 

Unvested restricted shares outstanding as of September 30, 2023 3,590,616 $ 16.89 

At September 30, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs, PSUs and RSAs, net of estimated forfeitures was
$46,417, with an expected remaining weighted-average recognition period of 2.23 years.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, was $9,016 and $19,033, respectively, and was
recorded within general and administrative expenses on the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Stock-based
compensation expense for the three and six months ended September 30, 2022, was $5,779 and $12,023, respectively, and was recorded within general and
administrative expenses on the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Note 10—Earnings per Share

Basic net (loss) income per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period.
Diluted net (loss) income per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of potentially dilutive
common shares outstanding during the period using the applicable methods.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net (loss) income per share of common stock (in thousands, except per share
amounts):
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 Three months ended September 30, Six months ended September 30,
2023 2022 2023 2022

Net (loss) income per common share (161,482) 11,703 (169,881) 26,661 
Less: net (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interest — 39 (220) 75 

Net (loss) income attributable to Digital Turbine, Inc. $ (161,482) $ 11,664 $ (169,661) $ 26,586 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic 100,604 98,887 100,272 98,324 
Basic net (loss) income per common share attributable to Digital Turbine, Inc. $ (1.61) $ 0.12 $ (1.69) $ 0.27 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, diluted 100,604 102,898 100,272 102,777 
Diluted net (loss) income per common share attributable to Digital Turbine, Inc. $ (1.61) $ 0.11 $ (1.69) $ 0.26 

Potentially dilutive outstanding securities of 2,823,586 and 3,273,213 for the three and six months ended  September 30, 2023, respectively, and
1,526,531 and 1,445,951 for the three and six months ended September 30, 2022, respectively, were excluded from the computation of diluted net income per
share because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 11—Income Taxes

The Company's provision for income taxes as a percentage of pre-tax earnings (“effective tax rate”) is based on a current estimate of the annual
effective income tax rate, adjusted to reflect the impact of discrete items. In accordance with ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes, jurisdictions forecasting
losses that are not benefited due to valuation allowances are not included in our forecasted effective tax rate.

During the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, a tax benefit of $ 713 and $2,252, respectively, resulted in an effective tax rate of 0.4%
and 1.3%, respectively. Differences between the effective tax rate and the statutory tax rate primarily relate to the non-deductible goodwill impairment charge,
tax limitations on certain deductions and state tax benefits.

During the three and six months ended September 30, 2022, a tax provision of $ 4,181 and $9,317 resulted in an effective tax rate of 26.3% and 25.9%,
respectively. Differences between the effective tax rate and the statutory tax rate primarily relate to state income taxes, nontaxable adjustments to the AdColony
and Fyber earn-outs, and tax deductions for stock compensation that exceed the book expense.

Note 12—Commitments and Contingencies

Hosting Agreements

The Company enters into hosting agreements with service providers and in some cases, those agreements include minimum commitments that require
the Company to purchase a minimum amount of service over a specified time period (“the minimum commitment period”). The minimum commitment period is
generally one-year in duration and the hosting agreements include multiple minimum commitment periods. Our minimum purchase commitments under these
hosting agreements total approximately $284,988 over the next four fiscal years.

Legal Matters

The Company may be involved in various claims, suits, assessments, investigations, and legal proceedings that arise from time to time in the ordinary
course of its business. The Company accrues a liability when it is both probable a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably
estimated. The Company reviews these accruals at least quarterly and adjusts them to reflect ongoing negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel,
and other relevant information. To the extent new information is obtained and the Company’s views on the probable outcomes of claims, suits, assessments,
investigations, or legal proceedings change, changes in the Company’s accrued liabilities would be recorded in the period such determination is made. For
some matters, the amount of liability is not probable or the amount cannot be reasonably estimated and, therefore, accruals have not been made.
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On June 6, 2022 and July 21, 2022, stockholders of the Company filed class action complaints against the Company and certain of the Company’s
officers in the Western District of Texas related to Digital Turbine, Inc.’s announcement in May 2022 that it would restate some of its financial results. The claims
allege violations of certain federal securities laws. These have been consolidated into In re Digital Turbine, Inc. Securities Litigation , Case No. 1:22-cv-00550-
DAE. On July 19, 2023, the Western District court granted the Company’s motion to dismiss the case. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on August 23,
2023, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint on September 22, 2023, and briefing is ongoing. In addition, several derivative actions
have been filed against the Company and the Company’s directors, which all assert claims of breach of fiduciary duties arising out of the same facts as the
securities class action. The cases are Olszanski v. Digital Turbine, Inc. , et al.; Case No. 1:22-cv-911 in federal court in the Western District of Texas (October 4,
2022); Witt v. Digital Turbine, Inc. , et al; Case 1:22-cv-01429-UNA in federal court in the District of Delaware (February 14, 2023); and Krumwiede v. Digital
Turbine, Inc.; Case No. 2023-0277 in state court in the Delaware Chancery Court (March 6, 2023). The federal derivative cases have been stayed under a court
order, pending a ruling on any motion to dismiss the federal class action. The Company and the individual defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Delaware
Chancery case on May 11, 2023. The Company and individual defendants deny any allegations of wrongdoing and the Company plans to vigorously defend
against the claims asserted in these complaints. Due to the early stages of these cases, management is unable to assess a likely outcome or potential liability at
this time.

On July 25, 2023, a derivative action was filed against the Company and the members of the Company’s Compensation and Human Capital
Management Committee that asserts a claim of breach of fiduciary duties related to the grant of equity awards to the Company’s CEO in excess of the annual
share limit set forth in the Company’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan. The case is Robert Garfield v. Digital Turbine, Inc., et al. ; Case No. 2023-0755 in state court
in the Delaware Chancery Court. The Company and individual defendants deny any allegations of wrongdoing. Due to the early stages of the case,
management is unable to assess a likely outcome or potential liability at this time.

Note 13—Subsequent Events

The Company evaluated subsequent events through the issuance date of the accompanying condensed
consolidated financial statements, which was November 8, 2023. There were no events or transactions during the subsequent event reporting period that
required disclosure in the condensed consolidated financial statements, other than:

The Company increased its equity investment in Aptoide, S.A. (“Aptoide”) from 10.6% to 18.6% pursuant to the Addendum to the Class A1 Preferential
Shares Investment Agreement (the “Agreement”) between the Company and Aptoide, dated November 8, 2023. The Company will pay consideration of €8,500,
or a US Dollar equivalent amount of approximately $9,095 for the additional equity investment.

19



Table of Contents

ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the condensed consolidated financial statements and the
notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Report”). The following discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and the provisions of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) , as amended. Forward-looking statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties.
When used in this Report, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “will,” “seeks,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “may,” and similar expressions, as
they relate to our management or us, are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Our actual results, performance, or achievements could differ
materially from those expressed in or implied by these forward-looking statements as a result of a variety of factors, including those set forth under “Risk
Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, as well as those described elsewhere in this Report and in our other
public filings. The risks included are not exhaustive and additional factors could adversely affect our business and financial performance. We operate in a very
competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors emerge from time-to-time and it is not possible for management to predict all such risk factors,
nor can it assess the impact of all such risk factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Historical operating results are not necessarily indicative of the trends in operating results
for any future period. We do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Report. Accordingly, investors should use
caution in relying on past forward-looking statements, which are based on known results and trends at the time they are made, to anticipate future results or
trends. This Report and all subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are expressly qualified
in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section.

All numbers are in thousands, except share and per share amounts.

Company Overview

Digital Turbine, Inc., through its subsidiaries (collectively “Digital Turbine” or the “Company”), is a leading independent mobile growth platform that
levels up the landscape for advertisers, publishers, carriers, and device original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”). We offer end-to-end products and solutions
leveraging proprietary technology to all participants in the mobile application ecosystem, enabling brand discovery and advertising, user acquisition and
engagement, and operational efficiency for advertisers. In addition, our products and solutions provide monetization opportunities for OEMs, carriers, and
application (“app” or “apps”) publishers and developers.

Recent Developments

Impact of Economic Conditions and Geopolitical Developments

Our results of operations are affected by macroeconomic conditions and geopolitical developments, including but not limited to levels of business and
consumer confidence, actions taken by governments to counter inflation, potential trade disputes, including but not limited to any U.S. government actions
against China based developers and publishers, Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, and the recent conflict in Israel.

Inflation, rising interest rates, supply chain disruptions, and reduced business and consumer confidence have caused and may continue to cause a
global slowdown of economic activity, which has caused and may continue to cause a decrease in demand for a broad variety of goods and services, including
those provided by our clients.

Like other advertising technology companies, we have seen a slowdown in digital advertising spending as well as a demand recession in mobile phone
sales, which we believe is driven by the impact of inflation, recession fears, and their potential impacts on consumers. These negative macroeconomic trends
have resulted, and may continue to result in, a decrease in mobile phone sales volume and/or advertising budgets and spending. While the slowdown in these
sales drivers depends on the geography, advertising type, operating system, and business vertical, the current economic environment is likely to continue to
impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations, the full impact of which remains uncertain at this time.
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Further, various U.S. federal and state governmental agencies continue to examine the distribution and use of apps developed and/or published by
China based companies. In some cases, government agencies have banned certain apps from mobile devices. Further actions by U.S. federal or state
governmental agencies or other countries to restrict or ban the distribution of China based apps could negatively impact our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

While the financial impact of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has not had a direct, material impact on our business, any European conflict, if expanded to
include other countries would likely have a material, negative impact on general economic conditions and would impact our business directly.

Additionally, we continue to actively monitor the recent and ongoing conflict in Israel and the Gaza Strip for any material impacts to our business. While
no adverse financial or operational impacts have been noted in the current period, if such conflict continues to ensue or escalates, it could have a potential
negative impact on our business, given our significant presence in the region.

The extent of the impact of these macroeconomic factors on our operational and financial performance is also dependent on their impact on carriers and
OEMs in relation to their sales of smartphones, tablets, and other devices, as well as the impact on application developers and in-app advertisers. If negative
macroeconomic factors or geopolitical developments continue to materially impact our partners over a prolonged period, our results of operations and financial
condition could also be adversely impacted, the size and duration of which we cannot accurately predict at this time.

We continue to actively monitor these factors and we may take further actions that alter our business operations, as required, or that we determine are
in the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, suppliers, and stockholders. In addition to monitoring the developments described above, the
Company also considers the impact such factors may have on our accounting estimates and potential impairments of our non-current assets, which primarily
consist of goodwill and finite-lived intangible assets.

The process of evaluating the potential impairment of goodwill is subjective and requires significant judgment, including qualitative and quantitative
factors such as the identification of reporting units, identification and allocation of assets and liabilities to reporting units, and determinations of fair value. In
estimating the fair value of our reporting units when performing our annual impairment test, or when an indicator of impairment is present, we make estimates
and significant judgments about the future cash flows of those reporting units and other estimates including appropriate discount rates. Discount rates can
fluctuate based on various economic conditions including our capital allocation and interest rates, including the interest rates on U.S. treasury bonds. Changes
in judgments on these assumptions and estimates could result in goodwill impairment charges.

Finite-lived intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment are amortized or depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
We monitor conditions related to these assets to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining amortization or depreciation
period or an impairment. We test these assets for potential impairment whenever we conclude events or changes in circumstances indicate carrying amounts
may not be recoverable.

The Company determined that the sustained decline in the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock and current and forecasted operating
trends represented a change in circumstances that indicate that the fair value of the Company’s reporting units may be less than their carrying amounts as of
September 30, 2023. Therefore, the Company evaluated goodwill for impairment, the result of which determined that an impairment charge of $147,181 was to
be recorded as of September 30, 2023.

Business Transformation Initiative

Beginning in fiscal year 2023, the Company entered into a business transformation project that includes the implementation of a new, global cloud-
based enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system to upgrade our existing enterprise-wide operating systems. We are also undertaking the consolidation of
existing ancillary systems and deploying other new platforms and systems to improve our operations and drive business and cost efficiencies.

This is a multi-year project that includes various costs, including software configuration and implementation costs that would be recognized as either
capital expenditures or deferred costs in accordance with applicable accounting policies, with certain costs recognized as operating expense associated with
project development and
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project management costs, and professional services with business partners engaged in the planning, design and business process review that would not
qualify as software configuration and implementation costs. In addition, the Company is incurring duplicative personnel and other operating costs to maintain
legacy systems and operations during the deployment of the new ERP system and certain other ancillary platforms and systems. The Company expects to
complete the first deployment phase in the third quarter of fiscal year 2024. Costs are anticipated to be incurred through various deployment phases that are
expected to continue through early fiscal year 2026. The Company incurred $1,237 and $1,291 of business transformation costs in the three months ended
September 30, 2023 and are recorded in General and Administrative expenses and Product Development expenses, respectively, in our Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive (Loss) Income.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):
Three months ended September

30, Six months ended September 30,
2023 2022 % of Change 2023 2022 % of Change

Net revenue $ 143,259 $ 174,859 (18.1)% $ 289,625 $ 363,492 (20.3)%
Costs of revenue and operating expenses

Revenue share 68,719 76,881 (10.6)% 138,311 164,248 (15.8)%
Other direct costs of revenue 9,017 9,199 (2.0)% 18,630 18,114 2.8 %
Product development 14,037 14,736 (4.7)% 29,837 28,869 3.4 %
Sales and marketing 15,537 15,490 0.3 % 31,114 31,548 (1.4)%
General and administrative 41,385 37,471 10.4 % 81,884 75,196 8.9 %
Impairment of goodwill 147,181 — 100.0 % 147,181 — 100.0 %

Total costs of revenue and operating expenses 295,876 153,777 92.4 % 446,957 317,975 40.6 %
(Loss) income from operations (152,617) 21,082 (823.9)% (157,332) 45,517 (445.7)%
Interest and other income (expense), net

Change in fair value of contingent consideration 372 — 372 — 100.0 %
Interest expense, net (7,844) (5,229) 50.0 % (15,234) (9,311) 63.6 %
Foreign exchange transaction loss (2,106) (281) 649.5 % (183) (612) (70.1)%
Other income, net — 312 (100.0)% 244 384 (36.5)%

Total interest and other expense, net (9,578) (5,198) 84.3 % (14,801) (9,539) 55.2 %
(Loss) income before income taxes (162,195) 15,884 (1121.1)% (172,133) 35,978 (578.4)%
Income tax (benefit) provision (713) 4,181 (117.1)% (2,252) 9,317 (124.2)%
Net (loss) income (161,482) 11,703 (1479.8)% (169,881) 26,661 (737.2)%

Net revenue

Three months ended September 30, Six months ended September 30,
 2023 2022 % of Change 2023 2022 % of Change
Net revenue

On Device Solutions $ 99,060 $ 108,466 (8.7)% $ 197,310 $ 227,103 (13.1)%
App Growth Platform 46,183 68,256 (32.3)% 95,142 140,622 (32.3)%
Elimination (1,984) (1,863) 6.5 % (2,827) (4,233) (33.2)%

Total net revenue $ 143,259 $ 174,859 (18.1)% $ 289,625 $ 363,492 (20.3)%

Comparison of the three and six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

Over the three-month comparative periods, net revenue decreased by $31,600 or 18.1%, and over the six-month comparative periods, net revenue
decreased by $73,867 or 20.3%. See the segment discussion below for further details regarding net revenue.
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On Device Solutions

ODS revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2023, decreased by $9,406 or 8.7% compared to the three months ended September 30,
2022. Revenue from content media declined by approximately $9,225 primarily due to the end of a carrier partnership that resulted in lower daily active users on
prepaid devices. Revenue from application media declined by approximately $181. The decline was primarily due to lower revenue from strategic demand
customers of approximately $3,352, which includes the impact of a contract amendment during the three months ended September 30, 2022. This decline was
partially offset by an increase in revenue-per-device, primarily in our US market, which offset lower device volumes.

ODS revenue for the six months ended September 30, 2023, decreased by $29,793 or 13.1% compared to the six months ended September 30, 2022.
Revenue from content media declined by approximately $26,325 for the same reason as noted above for the three months ended September 30, 2023. In
addition, application media revenue declined by approximately $3,469 for the six months ended September 30, 2023. The decline in revenue in application
media was primarily due to: (1) lower device volumes in the US and internationally, which offset an increase in revenue-per-device in the US of approximately
$1,812 and (2) lower revenue from strategic demand customers of approximately $1,657, which includes the impact of a contract amendment during the six
months ended September 30, 2022.

App Growth Platform

AGP revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2023, decreased by $22,073 or 32.3% compared to the three months ended September 30,
2022. Performance and brand advertising revenue declined by approximately $13,586 and advertising exchange revenue declined by $5,771, primarily due to
weaker demand in digital advertising and the impact of the consolidation and exiting of certain legacy AdColony platforms and business lines. In addition,
revenue declined by $2,716 due to a reseller partnership in the Nordic region, which ended on December 31, 2022.

AGP revenue for the six months ended September 30, 2023, decreased by $45,480 or 32.3% compared to the six months ended September 30, 2022.
Performance and brand advertising revenue declined by approximately $27,027 and advertising exchange revenue declined by $11,956, primarily due to weaker
demand in digital advertising and the impact of the consolidation and exiting of certain legacy AdColony platforms and business lines. In addition, revenue
declined by $6,497 due to a reseller partnership in the Nordic region, which ended on December 31, 2022.

Costs of revenue and operating expenses

Three months ended September 30, Six months ended September 30,
 2023 2022 % of Change 2023 2022 % of Change

Costs of revenue and operating expenses
Revenue share $68,719 $76,881 (10.6)% $138,311 $164,248 (15.8)%
Other direct costs of revenue 9,017 9,199 (2.0)% 18,630 18,114 2.8%
Product development 14,037 14,736 (4.7)% 29,837 28,869 3.4%
Sales and marketing 15,537 15,490 0.3% 31,114 31,548 (1.4)%
General and administrative 41,385 37,471 10.4% 81,884 75,196 8.9%
Impairment of goodwill 147,181 — 100.0% 147,181 — 100.0%
Total costs of revenue and operating expenses $295,876 $153,777 92.4% $446,957 $317,975 40.6%

Comparison of the three and six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

Total costs of revenue and operating expenses increased by $142,099 or 92.4% and $128,982 or 40.6%, respectively, for the three and six months
ended September 30, 2023, compared to the three and six months ended September 30, 2022.

Total costs of revenue and operating expenses included an impairment of goodwill of 147,181. Excluding the impairment of goodwill, total costs of
revenue and operating expenses decreased by $5,082 or 3.3% and
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$18,199 or 5.7%, respectively, for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, compared to the three and six months ended September 30, 2022.

The decrease in total costs of revenue and operating expenses for both comparative periods, after excluding the impairment of goodwill, was primarily
due to lower revenue share, partially offset by higher general and administrative costs. The reduced revenue share is the result of lower revenue over the same
comparative periods. Costs of revenue and operating expenses included total business transformation, severance and transaction costs of $3,416 and $3,819,
respectively, for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, compared to $1,284 and $2,584, respectively, for the three and six months ended
September 30, 2022.

Revenue share

Revenue share includes amounts paid to our carrier and OEM partners, as well as app publishers and developers, and are recorded as a cost of
revenue.

Revenue share decreased by $8,162 or 10.6% to $68,719 for the three months ended September 30, 2023, and was 48.0% as a percentage of total net
revenue compared to $76,881, or 44.0% of total net revenue, for the three months ended September 30, 2022.

Revenue share decreased by $25,937 or 15.8% to $138,311 for the six months ended September 30, 2023, and was 47.8% as a percentage of total net
revenue compared to $164,248, or 45.2% of total net revenue, for the six months ended September 30, 2022.

The decrease in revenue share was attributable to the decrease in total net revenue over the same periods, as these costs are typically paid as a
percentage of our revenue. The increase in revenue share as a percentage of total net revenue for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023
compared to the prior year comparative periods, was primarily due to revenue mix changes.

Other direct costs of revenue

Other direct costs of revenue are comprised primarily of hosting expenses directly related to the generation of revenue and depreciation expense
associated with capitalized software costs and amortization of developed technology intangible assets.

Other direct costs of revenue decreased by $182 or 2.0% to $9,017 for the three months ended September 30, 2023, and was 6.3% as a percentage of
total net revenue compared to $9,199, or 5.3% of total net revenue, for the three months ended September 30, 2022. The decrease in other direct costs was
primarily due to slightly lower amortization of developed technology intangible assets. The increase in other direct costs as a percentage of total net revenue
was due to the decline in total net revenue.

Other direct costs of revenue increased by $516 or 2.8% to $18,630 for the six months ended September 30, 2023, and was 6.4% as a percentage of
total net revenue compared to $18,114, or 5.0% of total net revenue, for the six months ended September 30, 2022. The increase in other direct costs was
primarily due to slightly higher amortization of developed technology intangible assets and hosting costs. The increase in other direct costs as a percentage of
total net revenue was due to the decline in total net revenue.

Product development

Product development expenses include the development and maintenance of the Company’s product suite. Expenses in this area are primarily a
function of personnel. Additionally, product development expenses include certain integration and business transformation costs, which may impact the
comparability of product development expenses between periods.

Product development expenses decreased by $699 or 4.7% to $14,037 for the three months ended September 30, 2023, compared to $14,736 for the
three months ended September 30, 2022. Product development expenses included severance and acquisition-related costs of approximately $217 and $543 for
the three months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively. Product development expenses for the three months ended September 30,
2023 also included business transformation costs of approximately $1,291. Product
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development expenses, after excluding severance, acquisition-related and business transformation costs, decreased by approximately $1,664. The decrease in
product development expenses was primarily due to lower employee-related costs, primarily cash incentive compensation, of approximately $3,098, partially
offset by higher hosting costs of approximately $1,453 for the three months ended September 30, 2023.

Product development expenses increased by $968 or 3.4% to $29,837 for the six months ended September 30, 2023, compared to $28,869 for the six
months ended September 30, 2022. Product development expenses included severance and acquisition-related costs of approximately $391 and $1,085 for the
six months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively. Product development expenses for six months ended September 30, 2023 also
included business transformation costs of approximately $1,291. Product development expenses, after excluding severance, acquisition-related and business
transformation costs, increased by approximately $371. The increase in product development expenses was primarily due to higher hosting costs of
approximately $1,543, for the six months ended September 30, 2023.

Product development expenses, excluding business transformation costs, acquisition-related costs and severance costs, increased to 8.7% and 9.7%
of total net revenue for the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, respectively, compared to 8.1% and 7.6% of total net revenue for the three and six
months ended September 30, 2022, respectively. The increase in product development expenses as a percentage of total net revenue was due to higher costs
and lower revenues.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses represent the costs of sales and marketing personnel, advertising and marketing campaigns, and campaign
management. Additionally, sales and marketing expenses include certain integration and business transformation costs, which may impact the comparability of
sales and marketing expenses between periods.

Sales and marketing expenses were relatively unchanged, increasing by $47 or 0.3% to $15,537 for the three months ended September 30, 2023, and
was 10.8% as a percentage of total net revenue compared to $15,490, or 8.9% of total net revenue, for the three months ended September 30, 2022. Sales and
marketing expenses included severance and acquisition-related costs of approximately $575 and $55 for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and
September 30, 2022, respectively. Sales and marketing expenses, after excluding severance and acquisition-related expenses, decreased by approximately
$473. The decrease in sales and marketing expense was primarily due to lower costs for sales-related events of approximately $593 and software and
professional services of approximately $516, partially offset by higher employee benefits costs of approximately $630.

Sales and marketing expenses were relatively unchanged, decreasing by $434 or 1.4% to $31,114 for the six months ended September 30, 2023, and
was 10.7% as a percentage of total net revenue compared to $31,548, or 8.7% of total net revenue, for the six months ended September 30, 2022. Sales and
marketing expenses included severance and acquisition-related costs of approximately $623 and $108 for the six months ended September 30, 2023 and
September 30, 2022, respectively. Sales and marketing expenses, after excluding severance and acquisition-related expenses, decreased by approximately
$949. The decrease in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to lower costs for software and professional services of approximately $883 and sales-
related events of approximately $449, partially offset by higher employee benefits costs of approximately $376.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses represent management, finance, and support personnel costs in both the parent and subsidiary companies, which
include professional services and consulting costs, in addition to other costs such as rent, stock-based compensation, and depreciation and amortization
expense. Additionally, general and administrative expenses include certain integration and business transformation costs, which may impact the comparability
of general and administrative expenses between periods.
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General and administrative expenses increased by $3,914 or 10.4% to $41,385 for the three months ended September 30, 2023 compared to $37,471
for the three months ended September 30, 2022. General and administrative expenses included severance and acquisition-related costs of approximately $96
and $686 for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively. General and administrative expenses for three months ended
September 30, 2023 also included business transformation costs of approximately $1,237.

General and administrative expenses, after excluding severance, acquisition-related and business transformations costs, increased by $3,267. The
increase was primarily due to higher stock-based compensation of approximately $3,429, depreciation and amortization expense of approximately $2,993, and
other costs, primarily professional fees, of approximately $99. These increases were partially offset by a decline in employee-related costs, primarily cash
incentive compensation and salaries, of $2,180 and bad debt expense of $889.

General and administrative expenses increased by $6,688 or 8.9% to $81,884 for the six months ended September 30, 2023, compared to $75,196 for
the six months ended September 30, 2022. General and administrative expenses included severance and acquisition-related costs of approximately $277 and
$1,391 for the six months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively. General and administrative expenses for six months ended
September 30, 2023 also included business transformation costs of approximately $1,237.

General and administrative expenses, after excluding severance, acquisition-related costs and business transformation costs, increased by $6,565. The
increase was primarily due to higher stock-based compensation of approximately $7,010, partially offset by lower bad debt expense of approximately $1,027 and
employee-related costs, primarily cash incentive compensation and salaries, of approximately $1,120.

Impairment of goodwill

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment at least annually or upon the occurrence of events or circumstances that indicate they would more
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. During annual testing as of March 31, 2023, the Company determined that the
fair value of both reporting units was in excess of their carrying value. As a result of this review, the Company did not record an impairment charge in fiscal year
2023.

As of September 30, 2023, the Company determined that the sustained decline in the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock during the
current fiscal year (in particular during the quarter ended September 30, 2023 and following such quarter), the increase in interest rates, and the Company’s
current and recently updated forecasted operating trends represented a change in circumstances that indicate that the fair value of the Company’s reporting
units may be less than their carrying value. The Company completed an impairment assessment of its goodwill, and as a result of this review, recorded a
$147,181 non-deductible, non-cash goodwill impairment charge (or $1.46 per basic and diluted share) for the AGP reporting unit for the quarter ended
September 30, 2023. There was no impairment of goodwill for the ODS reporting unit.

The fair value of each reporting unit was estimated using a weighted combination of the income approach, which incorporates the use of the discounted
cash flows method, and the market approach (the “Guideline Public Company Method”). The Company’s September 30, 2023 testing reflected a 75%/25%
allocation between the income and market approaches. The Company believes the 75% weighting to the income approach is appropriate, as it directly reflects
its future growth and profitability expectations.

The discounted cash flow method requires significant assumptions and estimates, the most significant of which are projected future growth rates,
capital expenditures, tax rates, gross margins and terminal values. In addition, the Company determines its weighted average cost of capital, which is risk-
adjusted to reflect the specific risk profile of the reporting unit being tested. For the September 30, 2023 testing, as compared to the March 31, 2023 testing, the
Company reduced its estimated future cash flows used in the impairment assessment, including revenues, gross profits, and EBITDA, to reflect its best
estimates at this time. The Company also updated key inputs for the discounted cash flow models, including the weighted-average cost of capital, which
increased due to higher interest rates, market volatility, and the company specific premium.

The market approach estimates the fair value of the reporting unit by applying multiples of operating performance measures to the reporting units
operating performance. These multiples are derived from comparable publicly-traded companies with similar investment characteristics. For the September 30,
2023 testing, as compared to the March 31, 2023 testing, the Company reduced its revenue and EBITDA market multiples, reflecting declining valuations across
the Company’s selected peer group. These updates, along with those made to the discounted
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cash flow models described above, had significant impacts on the estimated fair values of the Company’s reporting units.

As of September 30, 2023, the goodwill impairment evaluation indicated the following for the Company’s reporting units:

ODS

For the ODS reporting unit, the Company determined that the estimated fair value was in excess of its carrying value by $233,100. As a result, no
impairment charge was recorded.

The ODS reporting unit has remaining goodwill allocated of $80,176 as of September 30, 2023. The On Device business is facing challenges reflected in
the current fiscal year primarily related to fewer daily active users on prepaid devices and lower new device volumes in the US and internationally. The
Company currently believes these challenges will be successfully addressed when seasonality-driven increases in new device volumes occur as well as when
adverse macro-economic factors begin to subside. However, if the Company continues to see a sustained decline in its stock price, projected revenue growth
rates or operating margins decline, weighted average cost of capital increases, or the global macroeconomic or geopolitical conditions worsen, it is possible its
estimates about the ODS reporting unit's ability to successfully address the current challenges may change, which could result in the carrying value of the ODS
reporting unit exceeding its estimated fair value, and potential impairment charges. Prior to the quantitative goodwill impairment test, the Company tested the
recoverability of intangibles and other long-lived assets of the ODS reporting unit and concluded that such assets were not impaired.

AGP

For the AGP reporting unit, the Company determined that the carrying value was in excess of its estimated fair value, resulting in an impairment charge
of $147,181.

The decline in the fair value of the AGP reporting unit below its carrying value resulted primarily from the Company’s recently reduced estimates in the
Company’s estimated future cash flows, including revenues, gross profits, and EBITDA as mentioned above. Prior to the quantitative goodwill impairment test,
the Company tested the recoverability of intangibles and other long-lived assets of the AGP reporting unit and concluded that such assets were not impaired.

Subsequent to the impairment charge discussed above, the AGP reporting unit has remaining goodwill allocated of $328,800, and an excess of fair
value over carrying value of net assets of 0% as of the test date (September 30, 2023). As noted above, the fair value of the AGP reporting unit is derived from
a 75%/25% allocation between the discounted cash flows method and the market approach. The App Growth business is facing challenges reflected in the
current fiscal year primarily related to weaker demand in digital advertising and the impact of the consolidation and exiting of certain legacy AdColony platforms
and business lines. If market demand further weakens or the Company is not able to effectively operationalize new product and product feature deployments
and improve results, revenue expectations might not be met. This could result in the carrying value of the AGP reporting unit exceeding its future estimated fair
value and potential future impairment charges.

Interest and other income (expense), net

Three months ended
September 30,

Six months ended September
30,

2023 2022 % of Change 2023 2022 % of Change
Interest and other income (expense), net

Change in fair value of contingent consideration $ 372 $ — 100.0 % $ 372 $ — 100.0 %
Interest expense, net $ (7,844) $ (5,229) 50.0 % (15,234) (9,311) 63.6 %
Foreign exchange transaction loss (2,106) (281) 649.5 % (183) (612) (70.1)%
Other income, net — 312 (100.0)% 244 384 36.5 %

Total interest and other expense, net $ (9,578) $ (5,198) 84.3 % $ (14,801) $ (9,539) 55.2 %

Comparison of the three and six months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022
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Interest expense, net

For the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, interest expense, net, increased by $2,615 or 50.0% and $5,923 or 63.6%, respectively,
compared to the three and six months ended September 30, 2022, primarily due to an increase in interest rates of 330 basis points and 363 basis points,
respectively, and higher average outstanding borrowings of $65,734 and $79,783, respectively, over the comparative periods.

Income tax provision (benefit)

During the three and six months ended September 30, 2023, a tax benefit of ($713) and ($2,252), respectively, resulted in an effective tax rate of
(0.4%) and (1.3%), respectively. Differences between the effective tax rate and the statutory tax rate primarily relate to the non-deductible goodwill impairment
charge, tax limitations on certain deductions and state tax benefits.

During the three and six months ended September 30, 2022, a tax provision of $4,181 and $9,317 resulted in an effective tax rate of 26.3% and 25.9%,
respectively. Differences between the effective tax rate and the statutory tax rate primarily relate to state income taxes, nontaxable adjustments to the AdColony
and Fyber earn-outs, and tax deductions for stock compensation that exceed the book expense.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are our cash and cash equivalents, cash from operations, and borrowings under our New Credit Agreement. As of
September 30, 2023, we had unrestricted cash of approximately $58,138 and $139,000 available to draw under the New Credit Agreement with BoA, excluding
the accordion feature, subject to the required covenants. We generated $28,772 in cash flows from operating activities for the three months ended September
30, 2023.

Our ability to meet our debt service obligations and to fund working capital, capital expenditures, and investments in our business will depend upon our
future performance, which will be subject to availability of borrowing capacity under our credit facility and our ability to access capital markets as well as
financial, business, and other factors affecting our operations, many of which are beyond our control. These factors include general and regional economic,
financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory, and other factors such as health epidemics including COVID-19, economic and macro-economic factors like labor
shortages, supply chain disruptions, and inflation, and geopolitical developments, including the conflict in Ukraine, the political climate related to China, and the
conflict in Israel. We cannot guarantee we will generate sufficient cash flow from operations, or that future borrowings or capital markets will be available, in an
amount sufficient to enable us to pay our debt or to fund our other liquidity needs.

We believe we will generate sufficient cash flow from operations and have the liquidity and capital resources to meet our business requirements for at
least 12 months from the filing date of this Report.

Outstanding Secured Indebtedness

Our outstanding secured indebtedness under the New Credit Agreement is $386,000 as of September 30, 2023. The maturity date of the New Credit
Agreement is April 29, 2026, and the outstanding balance is classified as long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs of $2,190, on our condensed consolidated
balance sheets as of September 30, 2023. For further description of the terms of the New Credit Agreement, see Note 8—Debt under the heading “Revolver” in
the notes to our consolidated financial statements under Part I, Item 1 of this Report.

The collateral pledged to secure our secured debt, consisting of substantially all of our U.S. subsidiaries’ assets, would be available to the secured
creditor in a foreclosure, in addition to many other remedies. Accordingly, any adverse change in our ability to service our secured debt could result in an event
of default, cross default, and foreclosure or forced sale. Depending on the value of the assets, there could be little, if any, assets available for common
stockholders in any foreclosure or forced sale.

Our credit facility also contains a maximum consolidated secured net leverage ratio and minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio. If we fail to
satisfy these covenants, the lender may declare a default, which could lead to acceleration of the debt maturity. Any such default would have a material adverse
effect on us.

Hosting Agreements
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We enter into hosting agreements with service providers, and, in some cases, those agreements include minimum commitments that require us to
purchase a minimum amount of service over a specified time period (“the minimum commitment period”). The minimum commitment period is generally one-
year in duration, and the hosting agreements include multiple minimum commitment periods. Our minimum purchase commitments under these hosting
agreements total approximately $284,988 over the next four fiscal years.

Cash Flow Summary ($ in thousands)

Six months ended September 30,
2023 2022 % of Change

Consolidated statements of cash flows data:   
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 28,772 $ 64,309 (55.3)%

Capital expenditures (14,277) (12,930) 10.4 %
Net cash used in investing activities $ (14,277) $ (12,930) 10.4 %

Proceeds from borrowings 17,000 — 100.0 %
Repayment of debt obligations (44,136) (86,500) (49.0)%
Acquisition of non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries (3,751) — 100.0 %
Payment of withholding taxes for net share settlement of equity awards (1,037) (5,929) (82.5)%
Options exercised 2,729 939 190.6 %

Net cash used in financing activities $ (29,195) $ (91,490) (68.1)%

Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are primarily driven by revenue generated from user acquisition and advertising activity, offset by the cash
costs of operations, and are significantly influenced by the timing of and fluctuations in receipts from customers and payments to our carrier and publisher
partners as well as other vendors. Our future cash flows from operating activities will be diminished if we cannot increase our revenue levels and manage costs
appropriately. Cash provided by operating activities was $28,772 for the six months ended September 30, 2023, compared to $64,309 for the six months ended
September 30, 2022. The decrease of $35,537 was due to the following:

• $196,542 decrease in net income;

• $18,471 increase due to changes in operating assets and liabilities, driven primarily by working capital changes, including a decrease in accounts
payable, accrued compensation, and other current liabilities; and

•  $142,534 increase in non-cash charges during the six months ended September 30, 2023 primarily related to goodwill impairment and increased stock-
based compensation, partially offset by lower right-of-use assets for the six months ended September 30, 2023.

Investing Activities

Our primary investing activities have consisted of acquisitions of businesses, purchases of property and equipment, and capital expenditures in support
of creating and enhancing our technology infrastructure. For the six months ended September 30, 2023, net cash used in investing activities increased by
$1,347 to approximately $14,277. Our cash used in investing activities for the six months ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022, was primarily
comprised of capital expenditures related to internally-developed software.

Financing Activities

For the six months ended September 30, 2023, net cash used in financing activities was approximately $29,195, which was comprised of: (1) the net
repayment of debt obligations of $44,136, (2) payment of $3,751 for the acquisition of the remaining minority interest shareholders’ outstanding shares in one of
our subsidiaries, (3) payment of payroll withholding taxes for net share settlement of equity awards of $1,037. These cash outflows were partially offset by cash
inflows comprising of proceeds from borrowings of $17,000 and stock option exercises of
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$2,729.

For the six months ended September 30, 2022, net cash used in financing activities was approximately $91,490, which was comprised of repayment of
debt obligations of $86,500, payment of payroll withholding taxes for net share settlement of equity awards of $5,929, partially offset by cash inflows from stock
option exercises of $939.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our unaudited financial statements. The
preparation of these financial statements is based on management’s selection and application of accounting policies, some of which require management to
make judgments, estimates, and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and notes. For more information regarding our critical
accounting policies and estimates, please see Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Critical
Accounting Policies,” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, and Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies,” of this Report on Form 10-Q for our fiscal second quarter ended September 30, 2023.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company has operations both within the U.S. and internationally and is exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of business - primarily
interest rate and foreign currency exchange risks.

Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk

The primary objective of the Company’s investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing income without significantly increasing risk. The
Company’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and deposits, which are sensitive to interest rate changes.

The Company’s borrowings under its credit facility are subject to variable interest rates and thus expose the Company to interest rate fluctuations,
depending on the extent to which the Company utilizes its credit facility. If market interest rates materially increase, the Company’s results of operations could
be adversely affected. A hypothetical increase in market interest rates of 100 basis points would result in an increase in interest expense of $10 per year for
every $1,000 of outstanding debt under the Company’s credit facility. The Company has not used any derivative financial instruments to manage its interest rate
risk exposure.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Foreign currency exchange risk is the risk that the Company’s results of operations and/or financial condition could be affected by changes in exchange
rates. The Company has transactions denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally the euro, Turkish lira, and British pound, that expose the
Company’s operations to risk from the effects of exchange rate movements. Such movements may impact future revenues, expenses, and cash flows. In
certain of the Company’s foreign operations, the Company transacts primarily in the U.S. dollar, including for net revenue, revenue share, and employee-related
compensation costs, which reduces the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. In addition, gains (losses) related to translating certain cash
balances, trade accounts receivable and payable balances, and intercompany balances also impact net income. As the Company’s foreign operations expand,
results may be impacted further by fluctuations in the exchange rates of the currencies in which the Company does business. The Company has not used any
derivative financial instruments to manage its foreign currency exchange risk exposure.

ITEM 4.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Report. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Exchange Act means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company
in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the rules and
forms of the SEC. Disclosure controls

31



Table of Contents

and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including its principal executive and principal financial
officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, regardless of how
well they were designed and are operating, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its
judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
the end of the period covered by this Report, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-
15(f) of the Exchange Act during the period covered by this Report, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company may be involved in various claims, suits, assessments, investigations, and legal proceedings that arise from time-to-time in the ordinary
course of its business.

On June 6, 2022 and July 21, 2022, stockholders of the Company filed class action complaints against the Company and certain of the Company’s
officers in the Western District of Texas related to Digital Turbine, Inc.’s announcement in May 2022 that it would restate some of its financial results. The claims
allege violations of certain federal securities laws. These have been consolidated into In re Digital Turbine, Inc. Securities Litigation, Case No. 1:22-cv-00550-
DAE. On July 19, 2023, the Western District court granted the Company’s motion to dismiss the case. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on August 23,
2023, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint on September 22, 2023, and briefing is ongoing. In addition, several derivative actions
have been filed against the Company and the Company’s directors, which all assert claims of breach of fiduciary duties arising out of the same facts as the
securities class action. The cases are Olszanski v. Digital Turbine, Inc., et al.; Case No. 1:22-cv-911 in federal court in the Western District of Texas (October 4,
2022); Witt v. Digital Turbine, Inc., et al; Case 1:22-cv-01429-UNA in federal court in the District of Delaware (February 14, 2023); and Krumwiede v. Digital
Turbine, Inc.; Case No. 2023-0277 in state court in the Delaware Chancery Court (March 6, 2023). The federal derivative cases have been stayed under a court
order, pending a ruling on any motion to dismiss the federal class action. The Company and the individual defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Delaware
Chancery case on May 11, 2023. The Company and individual defendants deny any allegations of wrongdoing and the Company plans to vigorously defend
against the claims asserted in these complaints. Due to the early stages of these cases, management is unable to assess a likely outcome or potential liability at
this time.

On July 25, 2023, a derivative action was filed against the Company and the members of the Company’s Compensation and Human Capital
Management Committee that asserts a claim of breach of fiduciary duties related to the grant of equity awards to the Company’s CEO in excess of the annual
share limit set forth in the Company’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan. The case is Robert Garfield v. Digital Turbine, Inc., et al. ; Case No. 2023-0755 in state court
in the Delaware Chancery Court. The Company and individual defendants deny any allegations of wrongdoing. Due to the early stages of the case,
management is unable to assess a likely outcome or potential liability at this time.

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

The information in this Report should be read in conjunction with the risk factors set forth under Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in its Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 25, 2023. The Company is not aware of any
change to such risk factors except for the addition of the following:

Risks associated with the ongoing conflict in Israel has caused, and is currently expected to cause, negative effects on geopolitical conditions and
the global economy, including financial markets, inflation, and the global supply chain, which could have an adverse impact on our business,
operating results and financial condition, especially given our significant business presence in the region.

Since October 7, 2023, the hostilities in Israel and the Gaza Strip have further heightened global tensions and instability. At this time, it is unknown
whether hostilities in this region will escalate into an even larger conflict. The Company has a significant business presence in the region, and therefore,
continuation or escalation of the conflict could cause significant adverse financial impacts, due to reductions in demand and/or interruptions in business
operations.

ITEM 2.    UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

ITEM 3.    DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.
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ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 6.    EXHIBITS
Exhibit No. Description

10.1 Amendment to Notice of Grant and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance-Based), dated as of September 30, 2023, by and between
Digital Turbine, Inc. and William Stone. *

31.1 Certification of William Stone, Principal Executive Officer. *
31.2 Certification of Barrett Garrison, Principal Financial Officer. *
32.1 Certification of William Stone, Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. +
32.2 Certification of Barrett Garrison, Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. +
101 INS XBRL Instance Document. *
101 SCH XBRL Schema Document. *
101 CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. *
101 DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. *
101 LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. *
101 PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. *

*    Filed herewith.
+    In accordance with SEC Release No. 33-8212, these exhibits are being furnished, and are not being filed, as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or as

a separate disclosure document, and are not being incorporated by reference into any Securities Act registration statement.

• SIGNATURES

    Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  Digital Turbine, Inc.

Dated: November 8, 2023  By:  /s/ William Gordon Stone III
  William Gordon Stone III

    Chief Executive Officer
    (Principal Executive Officer)

  Digital Turbine, Inc.
  

Dated: November 8, 2023  By:  /s/ James Barrett Garrison
    James Barrett Garrison
    Chief Financial Officer
    (Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

AMENDMENT TO
NOTICE OF GRANT AND RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

(PERFORMANCE-BASED)

This Amendment to Notice of Grant and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance-Based) (this “ Amendment”), dated as of September 15,
2023, is by and between Digital Turbine, Inc. (the “Company”) and William Gordon Stone III (the “Participant”) (collectively, the “Parties”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Parties are parties to that certain Notice of Grant and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance-Based) with a grant date
of May 22, 2023 covering 212,396 target shares of common stock of the Company under the Company’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Agreement”);

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Agreement as set forth herein to reflect the applicable limitations of Sections 9.8 and 12.2 of the
Plan.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties hereto covenant and agree as follows:

1. Definition. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have their respective meanings set forth in the
Agreement and the Plan.

2. Amendments.

(1) The Notice of Grant is hereby amended by adding the phrase “(and subject to the limits as provided in Schedule I)” immediately
following the title “Target Number of Common Shares Subject to PRSUs Granted”.

(2) The first sentence of the first paragraph following the Performance Goals Table in Schedule I of the Agreement is hereby amended
by adding the following at the end of such sentence:

“; provided, that in no event shall the number of Target Shares that vest hereunder exceed 236,909 shares in accordance with Section 9.8
of the Plan (the “Cap”). If the aggregate number of Target Shares that vest hereunder would exceed the Cap, then the number of Target
Shares that vest shall be reduced until the aggregate number of Target Shares equals the Cap”

(3) The second paragraph following the Performance Goals Table in Schedule I of the Agreement is hereby amended by adding the
following at the end of such sentence:

“(but subject to the limitation described above in relation to the Cap)”

3. Effect on the Agreement . Except as specifically amended by this Amendment, all terms of the Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect. The term “Agreement” as used in the Amendment shall mean the Agreement as amended by this Amendment.

4. Further Assurances. Each of the Parties shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all appropriate action,
and do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under applicable law or otherwise to effectively carry out, evidence or perfect the
full intent and meaning of this Amendment.

5. Other.
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(1) This Amendment shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws.

(2) This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken
together shall constitute a single contract.

(3) This Amendment, along with the Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement among the parties relating to the subject matter
hereof and supersedes any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, related to the subject matter hereof.

(4) This Amendment shall not be amended or revised except in a writing executed by all of the parties hereto.

(5) No Party may assign this Amendment or any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the other
Parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment to be effective as of the date first set forth above.

COMPANY:

DIGITAL TURBINE, INC.

                                
Barrett Garrison, Chief Financial Officer

PARTICIPANT:

                                
William Gordon Stone III
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, William Gordon Stone III, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Digital Turbine, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

November 8, 2023 By: /s/ William Gordon Stone III
William Gordon Stone III
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, James Barrett Garrison, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Digital Turbine, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

November 8, 2023 By: /s/ James Barrett Garrison
James Barrett Garrison
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), the
undersigned officer of Digital Turbine, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2023, of the Company (the “Form 10-Q”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

November 8, 2023 By: /s/ William Gordon Stone III
William Gordon Stone III
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), the
undersigned officer of Digital Turbine, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corporation, does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:

The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2023, of the Company (the “Form 10-Q”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

November 8, 2023 By: /s/ James Barrett Garrison
James Barrett Garrison
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)


